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          1  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND SMALL BUSINESS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Good afternoon.

          3  My name is James Sanders, Jr., and I'm the Chair of

          4  the Committee on Economic Development Committee, and

          5  I'll say it again for the sake of the TV camera.

          6                 Good afternoon. My name is James

          7  Sanders, Jr., and I'm Chair of the Committee on

          8  Economic Development. I thank everyone for coming

          9  out here this afternoon.

         10                 Today we will hear testimony

         11  regarding Resolution 243, calling on Congress and

         12  the US Small Business Administration to develop more

         13  effective programs to provide relief to New York

         14  City businesses impacted by the attacks of September

         15  the 11th.

         16                 Many small businesses across the five

         17  boroughs of the City are struggling to remain open

         18  as a result of the attack.

         19                 Those located in Lower Manhattan in

         20  particular, have struggled to meet the documentation

         21  requirements to qualify for these loans since these

         22  documents were either lost or inaccessible following

         23  the attacks.

         24                 Some feel the loan formulas are

         25  inequitable and penalize those firms that have
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          2  closed as a result of the September 11th attacks.

          3                 This resolution calls on the United

          4  States Congress to adopt measures such as those

          5  contained in two bills introduced in the US House

          6  and the Senate in the last congressional session.

          7                 These bills would make SBA assistance

          8  to small businesses more accessible and more

          9  generous.

         10                 Since small businesses are such an

         11  important part of our local economy, employing

         12  nearly 1.9 million workers, we should consider all

         13  ways in which we can help them get back on their

         14  feet.

         15                 I'm going to introduce some people

         16  before we get to our witnesses, and of course, my

         17  very worthy co-chair here is Mr. Domenic Recchia,

         18  who will make a statement in a moment, he is the

         19  chair on the Subcommittee on Small Businesses.

         20                 Did I do it right, Domenic?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Oh, I'm getting

         23  better at this.

         24                 And, of course, the Counsel to the

         25  Committee is Ms. Beverly Reid.
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          2                 And we have been joined, and the

          3  latest star in our constellation, is Mr. Roberto

          4  Ragone. What is your title in this meeting, sir?

          5                 MR. RAGONE: Policy Analyst.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Oh, there you

          7  go. He is the Policy Analyst for our Committee, and

          8  he will make sure that we do things right.

          9                 Of course, hiding in the back is my

         10  economic policy analyst who didn't think I would

         11  call on her, Alice Meeker. Hiding back there with

         12  the biggest smile in the house.

         13                 Having said those things, Domenic,

         14  will you make sure I do less damage.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you,

         16  James. And first, I want to thank Alice, Roberto,

         17  and Beverly, for all their work in putting this

         18  together. But before we start taking testimony, I

         19  just want to set the record straight that SBA was

         20  invited here today to give testimony. They submitted

         21  a letter, and I'll go into why they're not here

         22  shortly.

         23                 We are here today because we called

         24  upon Resolution Number 243, calling upon United

         25  States Congress and Small Business, the SBA, to
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          2  develop effective programs to provide relief for all

          3  New York City businesses impacted by September 11th,

          4  including bills located outside of Manhattan.

          5                 The Resolution that we're introducing

          6  calls upon Congress to adopt measures, such as those

          7  contained in former Senate Bill 1499 and companion

          8  House Bill 3230, both introduced in the 107th

          9  Congress. The 107th Congress adjourned, so,

         10  therefore, these bills have to be reintroduced.

         11                 Instead of waiting for it to happen,

         12  this Committee, I personally, was on the phone with

         13  Congressman Nadler, and we spoke in great depth

         14  about this, and he will be reintroducing these bills

         15  and making sure they get right on the right path.

         16                 I also reached out to Congresswoman

         17  Velazquez, who is the Small Business in Washington

         18  for Congress, and, so, we did reach out and I

         19  personally spoke to Congressman Nadler's Office and

         20  the Congressman, and he is working with this issue

         21  to reintroduce this.

         22                 So without no further ado, we're

         23  going to go ahead with this hearing today, but then

         24  come back later on and be here, once these bills get

         25  reintroduced, to see how we could perfect them and
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          2  move forward.

          3                 So, I think we're ready to call the

          4  first witness.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you,

          6  Council member.

          7                 I did want to recognize that we have

          8  been joined by the very able Council Member from

          9  Brooklyn, Mr. Council Member Dilan, and we've been

         10  joined, of course, by Council Member Nelson. I

         11  believe that you had a role in this bill, Council

         12  member? At that point I will allow you to have a

         13  brief statement to make, sir, if you wish.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Thank you, Mr.

         15  Chair.

         16                 It came to some of our attention

         17  immediately that the impact upon the bullet coming

         18  toward America that actually hit New York City the

         19  worst, that it was not just a localized problem.

         20  There was a ripple effect toward the boroughs as

         21  well.

         22                 And I heard from some of my small

         23  businesses, and they told me the drop-off

         24  immediately thereof, people were not traveling, and

         25  people were spending less and so forth, based solely
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          2  upon that attack upon America.

          3                 So, a lot of us felt that it was the

          4  right thing to do to expand, broaden the horizons of

          5  the SBA, to take that into account and affect

          6  businesses that would be going out of business, in

          7  fact, due to that hit. So, hence, we came up with a

          8  resolution, which was passed by the Council, and

          9  that's why I appreciate your bringing this to the

         10  Committee's attention today.

         11                 I thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you, sir.

         13                 I want to also recognize that Council

         14  Member Sarah Gonzalez has joined us. The latest star

         15  in the Council firmament.

         16                 Ms. Reid, would you be kind enough to

         17  call the first witness?

         18                 MS. REID: Yes. The first witness is

         19  Randolph Peers. He is with the Brooklyn Chamber of

         20  Commerce.

         21                 Mr. Peers, can you state your name

         22  and affiliation for the record, please?

         23                 MR. PEERS: My name is Randolph Peers,

         24  and I'm the Executive Director for Workforce

         25  Development at the Brooklyn Chamber of Commerce.
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          2                 I'm here today to testify in support

          3  of City Council Resolution Number 243, calling on

          4  the federal government to adopt legislation that

          5  would increase the number of businesses eligible for

          6  financial relief, due to the tragic events of 9/11.

          7                 I want to thank the Committee for

          8  giving me the opportunity to be here today.

          9                 Founded in 1918, the Brooklyn Chamber

         10  of Commerce is a business assistance and economic

         11  development organization, dedicated to helping

         12  Brooklyn businesses grow and to promote the economic

         13  development of the Borough.

         14                 With more than 1,200 members from

         15  neighborhoods all across the borough, the Brooklyn

         16  Chamber is the largest Chamber of Commerce in New

         17  York and one of the fastest-growing business

         18  associations in the region.

         19                 Most of our membership consists of

         20  small and mid-sized businesses representing a

         21  cross-section of industries, for manufacturing and

         22  retail sales, to restaurants, business and financial

         23  services, wholesale distribution companies, and the

         24  growing not-for-profit sector.

         25                 Though it has many successful
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          2  programs and services, the Brooklyn Chamber of

          3  Commerce has firmly established itself as the voice

          4  of the Brooklyn business community.

          5                 While most of our member companies

          6  are located within the Borough of Brooklyn, it is

          7  important to note that many companies from other

          8  boroughs are also represented, including businesses

          9  from Lower Manhattan.

         10                 Furthermore, prior to 9/11, many of

         11  our Brooklyn-based members provided products or

         12  services to companies located near the World Trade

         13  Center.

         14                 Suffice to say the tragedy has had a

         15  ripple effect that has impacted many small

         16  businesses from all parts of the City.

         17                 In the days after the World Trade

         18  Center attack, the Brooklyn Chamber of Commerce

         19  joined forces with the Brooklyn Business Leaders and

         20  local politicians to provide emergency relief for

         21  victims and rescue workers.

         22                 Through its furniture bank effort,

         23  hundreds of pieces of donated office furniture and

         24  supplies were collected from around the country,

         25  providing assistance to about 70 businesses, helping
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          2  them get back on their feet in the aftermath of the

          3  World Trade Center disaster.

          4                 In addition, we circulated a survey

          5  amongst our membership designed to measure some of

          6  the initial impacts of the tragedy.

          7                 The participation in this survey, one

          8  of the first of its kind, was overwhelming and the

          9  responses reflected a great deal of uncertainty, and

         10  anxiety amongst the business community.

         11                 In October of 2002, more than a year

         12  after 9/11, the Brooklyn Chamber of Commerce

         13  announced the distribution of a follow-up survey

         14  designed to measure some of the lasting financial

         15  impacts the tragedy has had on local companies.

         16                 In early November, approximately

         17  27,000 surveys were distributed to Brooklyn-based

         18  businesses with three or more employees. This impact

         19  survey, more comprehensive than our first asked

         20  questions related to the economic conditions, pass

         21  financial results and various workforce-related

         22  impacts.

         23                 In addition, we sought these

         24  companies' impressions on the overall economy and

         25  solicit their projections for the future.

                                                            13

          1  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND SMALL BUSINESS

          2                 Participation in this six-page survey

          3  was impressive. We received over 1,100 responses,

          4  representing approximately four and a half percent

          5  of all those distributed.

          6                 Although we are currently in the

          7  process of tabulating responses and we expect to

          8  issue our official report in late February. I was

          9  able to compile some preliminary results that I

         10  think would be beneficial to represent at this

         11  Committee hearing.

         12                 On issues related to pre and

         13  post-9/11 revenue. Approximately half of those

         14  companies that responded indicated that prior to

         15  9/11 their revenue was increasing in 2001, as

         16  compared to 2000.

         17                 Roughly one-third of the respondents

         18  indicated that their revenue was approximately the

         19  same in 2001, as it was in 2000.

         20                 About 71 percent of the total

         21  responding businesses reported that they had

         22  experienced a decline in revenue during the 12

         23  months following 9/11.

         24                 Of those businesses that reported a

         25  decline, approximately 14 percent measured the
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          2  decline, as ten percent or less of total revenue, 26

          3  percent of those responding said it was 11 to 20

          4  percent of revenue, 44 percent of the respondents

          5  said it was 21 to 40 percent of revenue, and 17

          6  percent of the respondents indicated that it was 50

          7  percent or more of revenue that had declined.

          8                 On issues related to their workforce,

          9  among those businesses that reported a decline in

         10  revenue, 47 percent, or 365 companies indicated that

         11  they had to lay off employees after the tragedy.

         12                 Only 12 percent reported that they

         13  have since rehired any of these former employees.

         14                 On future economic projections,

         15  roughly 30 percent of the responding companies

         16  expect their revenue to continue to decline this

         17  year, while another 34 percent say revenue will

         18  probably stay about the same as last year.

         19                 On whether companies had applied for

         20  financial assistance post-9/11, only 14 percent, 153

         21  companies, reported that they had applied for a

         22  business loan or financial grant during a 12-month

         23  period following 9/11.

         24                 Of those that did apply 76 percent

         25  were successful in obtaining assistance, but the
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          2  majority, 56 percent, of these cases received their

          3  assistance from a commercial or savings bank.

          4                 Only 36 percent indicated they had

          5  received some type of assistance from either the

          6  federal or state government and no businesses

          7  indicated receiving aid directly from the City.

          8                 Although I am hesitant to draw any

          9  definitive conclusions until all of our data is

         10  tabulated, based on the preliminary data presented

         11  we can make certain inferences.

         12                 First, it is clear from the data that

         13  9/11 has had a lasting negative financial impact on

         14  many area businesses, including those located in the

         15  outer boroughs.

         16                 We can also assume that there are

         17  many businesses that were affected but did not

         18  complete the survey because they now no longer

         19  exist, thereby diluting somewhat the potential

         20  number of responses indicating substantial hardship.

         21                 There also seems to be a disconnect

         22  between the numbers of companies claiming that they

         23  had been affected 71 percent, and those that applied

         24  for financial assistance, 14 percent.

         25                 We can assume that many of these
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          2  businesses were either unaware of the different

          3  programs available to them, or unwilling to apply.

          4                 In either case it is clear that

          5  access to such assistance can have played a much

          6  bigger role in helping to get small businesses

          7  through difficult times.

          8                 Of particular concern to the Chamber

          9  has been the numbers of workers Brooklyn companies

         10  have had to let go due to economic difficulties.

         11                 This is why in September of 2000, in

         12  partnership with the Consortium for Worker

         13  Education, a leading provider of employment services

         14  throughout the City, the Chamber launched a wage

         15  subsidy program designed to prevent layoffs and

         16  encourage rehiring by companies affected since 9/11.

         17                 This program which was funded by the

         18  US Department of Labor has already helped -- this

         19  part was cut out of my written testimony, printer

         20  didn't pick it up. Sorry about that.

         21                 And I had the actual figures and I'll

         22  get them to you.

         23                 But it already helped several area

         24  businesses retain --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Sir, if I can
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          2  ask you to summarize. I don't know how much more you

          3  have written.

          4                 MR. PEERS: I've got two more

          5  paragraphs.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Okay.

          7                 MR. PEERS: We've helped already

          8  several areas businesses retain workers, and we have

          9  also received 300 additional requests for this type

         10  of aid, and we hope the federal government continues

         11  such funding.

         12                 As one of the leading advocates for

         13  businesses and their issues, the Brooklyn Chamber of

         14  Commerce supports Council Resolution Number 243

         15  calling on the federal government to adopt

         16  legislation that would have increased the number of

         17  businesses eligible for financial relief.

         18                 We consider any efforts that may help

         19  a small business community to recover as absolutely

         20  essential in promoting the larger overall economic

         21  recovery, and we applaud the City Council on the

         22  Economic Development Committee for their leadership

         23  on this issue, and we look forward to working with

         24  them in the future.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: It is most

          3  appropriate that you're speaking of Brooklyn. We

          4  have been joined by Brooklyn's best, Council Member

          5  Clarke.

          6                 I will yield to my colleague Domenic

          7  Recchia for the first question, or for the first of

          8  any of these questions.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: As you see, in

         10  Brooklyn, considering that it's outside of the zone

         11  in Lower Manhattan. Do you feel that many businesses

         12  have been served properly, or do you think there is

         13  still need for there to be more relief for the

         14  business outside of Manhattan?

         15                 MR. PEERS: Well, based upon the

         16  survey data, it seems clear to me that 71 percent

         17  indicated that they had experienced the decline. And

         18  that doesn't take into account businesses who have

         19  gone out of business and couldn't fill out the

         20  survey at the time it was distributed.

         21                 I believe that there is a deep need

         22  for additional assistance for the outer boroughs and

         23  those companies.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Okay, and that

         25  71 percent, is that as of today?
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          2                 MR. PEERS: As of today, yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: As you know,

          4  like I said earlier, we're going to reintroduce,

          5  Congressman Nadler is going to reintroduce this bill

          6  in Congress, and we want to focus, to see where

          7  exactly we need to help, you know, help all the

          8  small businesses, and especially those outside,

          9  because a lot of people seem to forget.

         10                 MR. PEERS: Right.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: And one of the

         12  criterias that they had, you know, a certain large

         13  portion of your income of the business had to come

         14  from Lower Manhattan, before you could get these

         15  grants, I feel was improper, and we're trying to

         16  correct that. We're trying to work with the federal

         17  government to correct these things. But

         18  astonishingly you have the numbers for us and I

         19  appreciate that.

         20                 MR. PEERS: We also will issue the

         21  final report, and I'll have all the numbers for you

         22  by the end of February, so I'll make sure everyone

         23  gets a copy.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Yes, it's very

         25  important that we get that, we also get that to
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          2  Congressman Nadler and Councilwoman Nydia Velazquez.

          3                 MR. PEERS: Absolutely.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I have no

          5  further questions.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: I have a

          7  question, sir.

          8                 MR. PEERS: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: If you can tell

         10  me, I would appreciate it. What has been the

         11  experience of Brooklyn's small businesses in

         12  obtaining assistance from the SBA, in terms of aid

         13  and service? Do you get any feedback on the SBA, in

         14  particular?

         15                 MR. PEERS: You know, we didn't ask

         16  that question directly in the survey, we asked a

         17  more general question about financial assistance of

         18  any kind, and then we sort of asked them to sort of

         19  characterize was it a commercial or savings bank;

         20  was it a City, state or federal government program;

         21  was it a charitable institution? That data we will

         22  have. Unfortunately, we didn't ask specifically

         23  about SBA.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Fair enough.

         25                 Sir, if there are no other questions
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          2  by my colleagues, I will thank you very much, and we

          3  will call the next witness. Thank you very much for

          4  being here.

          5                 MS. REID: The next two witnesses are

          6  from From the Ground Up, Jeannine Chanes and Bob Van

          7  Dyke.

          8                 We are going to ask you to try to

          9  limit your testimony to five minutes. I know that,

         10  Mr. Van Dyke, that won't be a problem.

         11                 MS. CHANES: I'm short too.

         12                 MS. REID: Okay.

         13                 MS. CHANES: I mean I'm brief.

         14                 MS. REID: Okay.

         15                 MS. CHANES: For the record, my name

         16  is Jeannine Chanes. I am here today as a

         17  representative of the hundreds of attorneys who are

         18  providing pro bono assistance to the Lower Manhattan

         19  Small Business victims of September 11th attacks

         20  through the Small Business Initiative of the

         21  Association of the Bar of the City of New York.

         22                 I am also co-counsel for the

         23  grassroots advocacy group From The Ground Up, and I

         24  am here on behalf of the 500 plus members of From

         25  The Ground Up as well.
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          2                 First of all, I would like to thank

          3  the ladies and gentlemen of the Committee for having

          4  us here today, and providing us with this

          5  opportunity to give us, give you our input on this

          6  resolution, and I would also like to thank you for

          7  the resolution itself.

          8                 Almost 16 months have passed since

          9  the towers fell, as Chairman Sanders noted, and

         10  Lower Manhattan small business owners are running

         11  out of time and options. Even today some small

         12  businesses, particularly those formerly located in

         13  the World Trade Center or the areas immediately

         14  adjacent to the Trade Center, such as Liberty

         15  Street, have yet to reopen.

         16                 Almost all of those that have

         17  reopened, are struggling to recover after more than

         18  a year of severe economic hardship brought about by

         19  the attacks and also by the displacement of the

         20  broader World Trade Center community.

         21                 It has been the experience of our

         22  members that the SBA has done an extraordinary job

         23  helping Lower Manhattan small businesses over the

         24  past 16 months. In fact, the only complaints that we

         25  have heard, regarding the SBA, have to do with the
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          2  program rules, such as the moratorium on interest

          3  accrual and the repayment of loans, the requirement

          4  for personal collateral, that's a very big one, and

          5  also eligibility criteria.

          6                 These are program rules that the SBA

          7  has no ability to change.

          8                 If Lower Manhattan small businesses

          9  are to benefit fully from the SBA loan program, the

         10  SBA needs to have more flexibility and more

         11  discretion with the way the program is administered.

         12                 We, therefore, support resolution 243

         13  because of passage of former HR 3230 and S1499, will

         14  provide the SBA with some of the flexibility that

         15  they, and Lower Manhattan small businesses need.

         16                 In addition, we support Resolutions

         17  624 and 626 proposed by Council Member Alan Gerson.

         18  We believe these three resolutions are important

         19  steps in expediting the rebuilding and recovery of

         20  the small business victims of September 11th.

         21                 We welcome the opportunity to work

         22  with you to make these steps a reality.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you.

         25                 MR. VAN DYKE: My name is Bob Van
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          2  Dyke. I'm the Vice President of From the Ground Up,

          3  and I run a recording studio called Pop Filter Music

          4  in Lower Manhattan. I have a physical damage SBA

          5  loan, so that's what I'm talking about today.

          6                 Every employee of the SBA that I've

          7  dealt with in the past year, has been polite and has

          8  expressed an interest in helping me and my business.

          9  That is the complete opposite of every other grant

         10  or loan program that I have had to deal with.

         11                 On September 11th, 2001, my recording

         12  studio was damaged by the smoke and dust from the

         13  collapse of the buildings formerly known as the

         14  World Trade Center.

         15                 The all risk insurance that I have

         16  through the Musicians Union has yet to pay me one

         17  sent for the damages.

         18                 If it had not been for the SBA loan I

         19  received, I am quite sure that I would not be in

         20  business in Lower Manhattan today.

         21                 The only request that I have today

         22  concerns a physical damage SBA loans.

         23                 Please extend the moratorium on

         24  repayment from one year to two years, and stop

         25  charging interest.

                                                            25

          1  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND SMALL BUSINESS

          2                 We all know that the employees of the

          3  SBA can only do what the US government allows them

          4  to do.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you, sir.

          7                 I could also encourage you, you may

          8  want to get in touch with your Council member to see

          9  what they can do to aid you with that insurance. If

         10  you were properly insured and the things were going

         11  well, then perhaps, or you've done what you need to

         12  do, and perhaps your Council member I suspect is

         13  Gerson.

         14                 MR. VAN DYKE: Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: One of our best,

         16  would be delighted to help do what they can.

         17                 Council Member, Chair Recchia.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Yes,

         19  Councilman.

         20                 The insurance I was going to follow

         21  up with that, why are they disclaiming to pay?

         22                 Are they disclaiming to pay? They

         23  sent you a disclaimer letter?

         24                 MR. VAN DYKE: Jeannine will stop me

         25  before I say too much, but they basically laughed at
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          2  me and they said it wasn't stolen and it didn't have

          3  like a hole in it. It's all hi-tech equipment that's

          4  very, very sensitive. And nobody will give me a

          5  letter, including DigiDesign (phonetic). They gave

          6  me a letter that said you're better off to pour

          7  water onto this equipment than to smoke a cigarette

          8  around it. And they did say it was like very

          9  susceptible to smoke, and to dust damage.

         10                 But no one can say it's 41 percent

         11  damaged, or it's 38 percent or it's 94 percent

         12  damaged, it's damaged, as most of us in this room

         13  our lungs have been damaged, but we don't know how

         14  much.

         15                 MS. CHANES: If I can say something

         16  here? It's my understanding it's their contention

         17  there was no physical damage to covered property,

         18  that the presence of this dust, notwithstanding the

         19  position that most of the insurance industry took

         20  post-9/11, the mere presence of this dust is not

         21  sufficient to trigger the physical damage

         22  requirement of the all risk policy.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: What insurance

         24  company are we dealing with?

         25                 MR. VAN DYKE: Sorry?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: What insurance

          3  company are we dealing with?

          4                 MR. VAN DYKE: AIG.

          5                 MS. CHANES: He's also working with

          6  the New York State Insurance Department on that, so

          7  we're trying but we're not there yet.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: No, because

          9  you're not the first people to have problems with

         10  paying on the insurance that they had. And I guess

         11  their position is that they really don't know how

         12  much if it's damaged, because they really can't see

         13  the damage?

         14                 MR. VAN DYKE: Yes, well, they know

         15  there's damage to it. And I brought a really good

         16  person out to do an inspection, and someone I know

         17  that would do an honest inspection, and he's not

         18  going to say oh, yeah, but his summation is that

         19  there had been damage. He can't tell. The only way

         20  to put it in the shape that it was in September the

         21  10th was total replacement.

         22                 So, they took half of that sentence

         23  and said even the person you brought out to look at

         24  it said, "there is no way I can tell the damage."

         25  Then they left off the part of the sentence that
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          2  said the only way it would be total replacement.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I see. All

          4  right.

          5                 But the Insurance Company is AIG?

          6                 MR. VAN DYKE: Yes. It's New

          7  Hampshire/AIG.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Because there

          9  seems to be a number of companies that are just

         10  disclaiming.

         11                 MR. VAN DYKE: Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Some are

         13  disclaiming against small businesses because they

         14  say it's act of terrorism, not covered.

         15                 MR. VAN DYKE: Right. And it's so

         16  silly, I had this all-risk insurance, too, so I'm

         17  covered for everything.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: That's why I'm

         19  very surprised they're not paying on this. But the

         20  Insurance Department has this?

         21                 MR. VAN DYKE: I believe it has it.

         22                 MS. CHANES: Also, the Bar Association

         23  and From The Ground Up are working with the courts

         24  to try and set up a mediation program for some of

         25  these peskier problems that don't seem to be
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          2  resolved, and we've got the insurance industry trade

          3  group on board with us, too, so we might get

          4  something.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Well, if there's

          6  any help that the City Council could offer, we would

          7  like to get involved, the Small Business Committee

          8  and the Economic Development, in helping you with

          9  that.

         10                 MS. CHANES: Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: If we need to we

         12  would send a letter to the court.

         13                 MS. CHANES: Thank you.

         14                 MR. VAN DYKE: Thank you very much.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RECCIA: I can talk to you

         16  about it in much more detail after this and sit down

         17  and see who will draft a letter requesting, you

         18  know, from Jonathan Litman, the Administrative

         19  Judge, that certain mediation part should be set up

         20  so we could resolve some of these claims.

         21                 MS. CHANES: At this point the courts

         22  are willing and everyone is willing except the

         23  insurance industry.

         24                 So, the pro bono attorneys are

         25  interested in the policy, we've had a number of
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          2  meetings with the courts and they're onboard. The

          3  Bar Association is gungho, our members are gungho,

          4  the insurance industry is taking a position that

          5  while they have paid out for most of the claims and

          6  there really isn't a big problem.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: That's funny

          8  they paid up most of them. Most of them I hear

          9  they're not paid.

         10                 MS. CHANES: Me, too.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Okay, Jeannine,

         12  I have a question. You say there should be a

         13  moratorium on the interest from one year to two

         14  years?

         15                 MS. CHANES: It's my understanding

         16  that the SBA economic loss loans currently have a

         17  moratorium on interest accrual and loan repayments

         18  for two years.

         19                 It's my understanding that physical

         20  damage SBA loans only have a one-year moratorium,

         21  and we've been told by the SBA, and Bob has actually

         22  gotten this, if small business owners appeal to the

         23  SBA on a one-off basis, they can usually get their

         24  moratorium for their physical damage loan extended

         25  to two years, but not the interest. And that's nice,
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          2  but for one thing, people don't necessarily know

          3  that they have that option, they don't necessarily

          4  have the time or the persuasiveness to follow

          5  through on it. And in light of the fact that that is

          6  the -- you know, there is a deferment or a

          7  moratorium for the economic loss SBA loans, it makes

          8  sense, and from our conversations with Congressman

          9  Nadler, we understand that was the intent, it was

         10  just essentially a typo in the bill that prevented

         11  that similar moratorium being on the physical damage

         12  loan.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: After today I'm

         14  going to meet with the Congressman. I'm going to

         15  bring to the attention to him that the physical

         16  damage should be extended for two years.

         17                 MS. CHANES: Yes. That would be great.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: For repayment of

         19  the loan, but now is that two years also from paying

         20  the interest?

         21                 MS. CHANES: Yes, interest accrual is

         22  also deferred for two years.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Interest

         24  accrual, okay. All right.

         25                 Anything else I should know about?
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          2                 MS. CHANES: The only thing is I'd

          3  like to reiterate that all of our members say very

          4  wonderful things about the SBA employees, that

          5  they've just done an excellent job, they get an A

          6  for implementation. The problems here are

          7  substantive in our procedure. The procedure is

          8  working out really well.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you.

         10                 MS. CHANES: Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you. If

         12  there are no other questions from the -- not so

         13  fast, my friends.

         14                 Council Member Nelson.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: No.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Oh, okay.

         17                 Thank you very much. Before we call

         18  our next -- thank you very much. I hope you attend

         19  the rest, you stay here for the rest, but before we

         20  call the next witnesses, we are joined by arguably

         21  one of the Council's brightest minds, Eric Gioia, of

         22  Queens. Although I am out numbered by Brooklyn here,

         23  I notice they have made that known.

         24                 Quickly, let us call the next

         25  witness.
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          2                 MS. REID: I would like to call

          3  Anthony B. Golio and John Calder.

          4                 Is Steve Hoody here?

          5                 DR. HOODY: Yes.

          6                 MS. REID: Yes? You can come up at

          7  this time also.

          8                 After you're seated, please state

          9  your name and your affiliation for the record, and

         10  Mr. Golio, you can begin, followed by Mr. Calder,

         11  and then Mr. Hoody.

         12                 MR. GOLIO: Mr. Chairman, members of

         13  the Committee. I want to thank you for scheduling

         14  these hearings to learn firsthand of the problems

         15  and difficulties that businesses of New York City

         16  are continuing to face more than a year following

         17  the World Trade Center disaster.

         18                 As we all know, many innocent people

         19  lost their lives, many businesses were destroyed,

         20  and life in New York City has been inexorably

         21  altered since that fateful day.

         22                 Unfortunately, much of the suffering

         23  that was inflicted on our City by the terrorists has

         24  been exacerbated by the support many New York City

         25  businesses have received since the disaster.
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          2                 Yes, the State and City have launched

          3  advertising campaigns, and, yes, the federal

          4  government promised billions of dollars in aid in

          5  loans, but, no, the money is not necessarily finding

          6  its way into the hands of businesses that have been

          7  seriously impacted.

          8                 My name is Tony Golio. I'm president

          9  of a small New York City based restaurant company

         10  that in August 2001 employed more than 463 full- and

         11  part-time employees.

         12                 Our company had just invested $3.5

         13  million into the development of a new restaurant in

         14  Times Square, and has just been able to fully reopen

         15  our restaurant in Battery Park after the completion

         16  of a Parks Department renovation project that had

         17  closed much of our facility for more than seven

         18  months and cost the company almost a million dollars

         19  in lost revenues and renovation costs.

         20                 However, all indications were at that

         21  time, with all three of our restaurants open, and

         22  ready for business, we were going to have an

         23  exciting fourth quarter.

         24                 Like many businesses in the downtown

         25  area, once the disaster occurred, we immediately
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          2  attempted to do all that we could to help out.

          3                 We opened our building for uses in

          4  makeshift triage center, providing shelter and first

          5  aid to almost 2,000 people, seeking cover as the

          6  dust cloud consumed Lower Manhattan.

          7                 We distributed water and cut our

          8  tablecloths into face masks to guard against smoke

          9  inhalation.

         10                 We made our phone lines available for

         11  people, hoping to contact their families. One of the

         12  people we were able to help that day was Mrs. Beryl

         13  Spitzer from Colorado and there's an attachment to

         14  this with a letter that we received from her after

         15  the disaster.

         16                 When the commotion subsided, we

         17  helped move people onto the fleet of tugboats that

         18  transported many people from Battery Park to other

         19  parts of the City.

         20                 After most of the people had been

         21  evacuated, and in accordance with civil authorities,

         22  we locked down our facility, which let our staff to

         23  go home to their families.

         24                 On Saturday, September 15th, we were

         25  finally able to gain access to our restaurant.
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          2                 As many of you are aware, Battery

          3  Park was part of the frozen zone, and very quickly

          4  became home for the national guard and several

          5  contingents of the Police Department.

          6                 Part of our restaurant had been

          7  commandeered as a temporary police precinct, for the

          8  displaced unit originally located at 7 World Trade

          9  Center.

         10                 The park remained completely closed

         11  for more than nine weeks, during which our

         12  restaurant continued to be used as a temporary

         13  police precinct.

         14                 Based on promises made to businesses

         15  in the downtown area, by the City, State and federal

         16  authority, and in light of the unspeakable disaster

         17  that just disrupted all of our lives, as a company

         18  we made a decision to offer refunds of almost

         19  $200,000 to all of our wedding, bar mitzvah and

         20  special event clients that had to cancel their

         21  events.

         22                 We also decided to pay all of our

         23  hourly employees and management employees their

         24  earnings, including paying tipped employees the

         25  gratuities they would have normally earned had the

                                                            37

          1  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND SMALL BUSINESS

          2  restaurant been opened for six weeks following the

          3  disaster.

          4                 We believe that in light of the

          5  tragedy, with the promises of loans that we had been

          6  assured would be forthcoming, it was the right thing

          7  for us to do for our clients, our employees, and our

          8  City.

          9                 In the days following the disaster,

         10  the Small Business Administration Economic Disaster

         11  Relief Program was supposed to work quickly to get

         12  long-term low-rate loans in the hands of businesses

         13  that were impacted by the disaster. In fact, field

         14  offices were set up in several locations around the

         15  City to get information into the hands of companies,

         16  to help them file for and receive loans to keep

         17  their businesses going and their employees working.

         18                 Unfortunately, from all accounts, it

         19  appears that the economic disaster relief program

         20  had become somewhat of a disaster for New York City

         21  businesses.

         22                 The SBA had reported that they denied

         23  more loan requests based on size standards in the

         24  four months following the disaster than they had

         25  denied in the preceding eight years.
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          2                 What this means is that New York City

          3  sized small businesses are being denied loans in far

          4  greater numbers because of the high cost of doing

          5  business in New York City.

          6                 The impact of the size standard

          7  limitation is being felt most severely by the City's

          8  restaurant industry, which coincidentally is the

          9  largest private employer group in New York City,

         10  comprising more than 275,000 jobs.

         11                 In fairness to the SBA, the size

         12  standards are legislatively set by Congress, and

         13  although there were currently two bills pending,

         14  S.1499 and HR.3230, the bills have not received the

         15  public push necessary to get past the politics of

         16  Washington.

         17                 We hope that all of New York's

         18  elected officials would want to create the kind of

         19  public outcry necessary to address the size standard

         20  issue and provide hope to thousands of New York City

         21  businesses and their employees.

         22                 Unfortunately, on the State and City

         23  level, things have not been much better. The Empire

         24  State Development Fund announced with much fanfare,

         25  that in conjunction with the City they had
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          2  established the WTC Bridge Loan Program, a $250

          3  million fund to enable a number of banks to provide

          4  $100,000 loans to businesses.

          5                 The process was only supposed to take

          6  three days, and funds would be available.

          7                 However, what nobody mentioned was

          8  that the WTC Bridge Loan Program was only 20 percent

          9  backed by the City and State. So participating banks

         10  with whom the program was set up still had to ensure

         11  the businesses they were loaning the money to could

         12  meet the underwriting standards. Consequently,

         13  businesses located in the downtown area that were

         14  experiencing 50 percent of greater revenue losses,

         15  couldn't possibly qualify.

         16                 In the end, the program had an

         17  approval rate of only one in 12 applications.

         18                 In January, 2002, the Empire State

         19  Development Fund received a $700 million grant from

         20  HUD to help businesses in Lower Manhattan recover

         21  from the effects of the World Trade Center disaster.

         22                 Part of those funds were used in the

         23  creation of the WTC grant program, offering downtown

         24  businesses up to three percent of prior year

         25  revenues.
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          2                 While helpful, many small businesses

          3  lost millions of dollars in revenues in the months

          4  following the disaster.

          5                 Further, the new grant program didn't

          6  take into consideration the financial realities of

          7  the companies receiving the grants - were they

          8  opened or closed, how much were the revenues off

          9  from the preceding year, and what was the likelihood

         10  in the timeframe with which they will be able to

         11  reopen?

         12                 The only consideration was the

         13  businesses proximity to ground zero.

         14                 In August of 2002, the New York Times

         15  reported that the Empire State Development Fund

         16  still had not dispersed more than 300 million the

         17  700 million it received from HUD. While retail and

         18  restaurant businesses throughout New York City

         19  continue to close, jobs will continue to be lost,

         20  and the economy of the City continues to decline.

         21                 For my company, things have been

         22  extremely difficult. Our new restaurant in Times

         23  Square is running more than 50 percent behind

         24  projections, due to significant reduction in tourism

         25  in 2002, the lack of attendance to Broadway shows,
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          2  and, quite frankly, our lack of cash to be able to

          3  promote the facility to New Yorkers.

          4                 The ala carte restaurant portion of

          5  our facility in Battery Park was frozen until April

          6  of 2002.

          7                 When we began a phased reopening of

          8  our restaurant, in conjunction with the full

          9  reopening of street access to the downtown area.

         10                 Even our restaurant in Brooklyn that

         11  is heavily dependent on regional travelers and

         12  tourists, has experienced a 20 percent reduction in

         13  revenues. All in all, since September 11th, my

         14  company has suffered a revenue shortfall in excess

         15  of $9 million, and quite frankly, companies our size

         16  are not large enough or financially strong enough to

         17  survive that kind of hit to revenues.

         18                 Obviously, our cash flow, like many

         19  other restaurants, has been severely constricted.

         20                 While our vendors are being patient

         21  and working with us, and many other businesses, the

         22  utility companies have been relentless and demanding

         23  payment or threatening to turn off service, and

         24  landlords, ever vigilant in their collection of

         25  rents, have been particularly unsympathetic, serving
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          2  late payment notices and threatening to start

          3  eviction proceedings.

          4                 Currently, the Parks Department of

          5  the City of New York has been threatening to cancel

          6  our license agreement to operate our facility in

          7  Battery Park, because of our inability to pay our

          8  full license fees for last year.

          9                 Although we have been current with

         10  our minimum rent for the current year, and we have

         11  made significant payments to reduce last year's

         12  balance, what is truly disheartening about the City

         13  position, in regard to Battery Park, is that we were

         14  hurt by the City not once, but twice last year.

         15                 As I mentioned earlier, the Parks

         16  Department Renovation Project cost our company

         17  almost a million dollars in lost revenues and

         18  renovation costs from January through July of 2000

         19  and -- and that's a mistake -- through 2001. And

         20  then when our facility was commandeered for use as a

         21  temporary police precinct for nine weeks, we lost

         22  coverage on our business interruption policy,

         23  because we were closed by civil authority.

         24                 Further, to date, we have not

         25  received any reimbursement from the City for the
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          2  utility bills that we had to pay while the City used

          3  our facility.

          4                 No amount of advertising is going to

          5  help us recover the millions of dollars in revenues

          6  that we have lost during the last year.

          7                 Our customers that didn't or couldn't

          8  come to our restaurants during this time, are not

          9  going to eat twice as much next year.

         10                 As a result, because of the disaster,

         11  and the lack of any meaningful help on the City,

         12  State and federal level, many of us have been

         13  hemorrhaging money now for almost 16 months.

         14                 As things stand today, the future for

         15  many of us and potentially the City looks bleak.

         16  Many speeches have been made, funds have been

         17  promised, and yet more than a year later it has all

         18  been mostly talk.

         19                 The City and many small businesses

         20  are still suffering significant cash flow shortages.

         21                 According to NYC and Company, tourism

         22  revenues are at their lowest levels since the 1970s.

         23                 The severe reduction in revenues is

         24  not only impacting retailers in restaurants, but it

         25  is permeating through the entire business community.
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          2                 Suppliers of goods and services to

          3  many businesses have seen their receivables balloon,

          4  revenues fall, and projects cancelled. As a result,

          5  they have had to reduce staffs and cut costs, which

          6  of course further reduces the available pool of

          7  customers and disposable income for New York City's

          8  businesses, and increases the lines of the

          9  unemployment offices.

         10                 A significant portion of New York

         11  City's economy is made up of small business, and for

         12  many of us to survive, we need programs that will

         13  help us weather the storm.

         14                 While there have been many proposals

         15  bandied about at the state and federal level,

         16  politics have stopped any significant movement.

         17                 The solution to the problem of small

         18  businesses is cash - cash to pay vendors and keep

         19  them viable, cash to pay employees and keep them

         20  working, and cash to ride out the next year as the

         21  City begins to recover financially.

         22                 Many of us small business people have

         23  taken the gamble in the past to build businesses in

         24  New York City want to be part of the recovery. To do

         25  that, I implore the City Council to push the state
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          2  and federal government to make changes in the size

          3  standard restrictions at the SBA, and to work to

          4  create other guaranteed loan programs that small

          5  business owners can use to get low-cost, long-term

          6  loans from New York banks, thereby injecting capital

          7  back into the economy of New York, and helping

          8  businesses get moving again.

          9                 By providing these loan guarantees,

         10  the state and federal government will for no cost be

         11  able to pump money into the economy of New York,

         12  thus reducing the rising level of unemployment and

         13  bankruptcy filings that have already taken place.

         14                 Further, as the cash provided by

         15  these loan guarantees works its way through the

         16  economy of New York City, it will stimulate spending

         17  and thereby help to reduce the anticipated deficits

         18  of the City and State through the collection of

         19  increased sales and payroll taxes.

         20                 On September 11th, like many other

         21  businesses, we opened our doors to the community at

         22  large, and now 16 months later we feel that the

         23  doors have been closed to us.

         24                 Again, I come here today not asking

         25  for a gift or a grant, rather I am asking the City
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          2  Council to show its support of the small business

          3  community, by working with State and federal

          4  governments to make available loan guarantees of

          5  significant size and duration that will help us

          6  survive the tremendous financial losses that we have

          7  already sustained and will undoubtedly continue to

          8  experience.

          9                 By making these loan guarantees

         10  available, we'll be ensuring that New York's small

         11  business community, the City and the nation will

         12  come out of this disaster even stronger and with far

         13  greater resolve.

         14                 I thank you for your time and

         15  consideration.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you.

         17                 Who goes next?

         18                 MR. REID: Mr. Calder.

         19                 MR. CALDER: My name is John Calder.

         20  I'm here to represent my business Steamer Landing in

         21  Battery Park City, and tell a bit about my

         22  experiences.

         23                 I also, for the past five years, have

         24  been a president of the City Chapter of the New York

         25  State Restaurant Association, and a founding member
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          2  From the Ground Up, and, so, with that I've had, a

          3  lot of people, you know, experience of other

          4  people's problems.

          5                 I read my testimony, I thank you for

          6  asking me to do it.

          7                 Steamers Landing was out of business

          8  for seven months. On 9/11/01 we had three years

          9  remaining on our lease, with two five-year options.

         10  We spent $240,000 in our restoration of property

         11  losses. We have lost another $300,000 in business

         12  income and business expense.

         13                 Steamers Landing was used as a

         14  shelter and occupied by various governmental groups,

         15  or its representatives for many days after the

         16  attack. Not one agency has offered compensation or

         17  thanks.

         18                 We have received $230,000 from our

         19  insurance, and will have to fight tooth and nail to

         20  get the balance of our losses that we have been

         21  insured against.

         22                 We have experienced a decline in

         23  business over the last seven months.

         24                 On December 6th, 2001, I gave

         25  testimony at the Small Business Committee, and was
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          2  one of many voices asking to liberalize collateral

          3  requirements, as well as other requirements by

          4  allowing New York City businesses to use their

          5  business as collateral as opposed to their homes and

          6  their co-ops.

          7                 So far, as I know, that requirement

          8  has not changed, nor have other requirements

          9  facilitating SBA help.

         10                 As an aside, if I were to go to my

         11  co-op and ask to put it up as collateral, I'd have

         12  to tell every individual in that building what my

         13  financial problems are, and I don't want to do that.

         14                 The WTC small firm attraction and

         15  retention grant has not been available to us because

         16  our landlord has been -- we've been in a suit

         17  situation with our landlord.

         18                 Part of the requirements of that job,

         19  even though we're in the zone closest to the WTC, to

         20  the World Trade Center allow us very liberal

         21  advantage of that grant, but if there's a suit going

         22  on, you can't get it.

         23                 The grant requires that you must have

         24  a good working relationship with your landlord, no

         25  lease, no grant, the landlord has the veto. Not
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          2  right.

          3                 The same holds true for the

          4  affirmation of the five-year commitment. You've got

          5  to have a letter from the landlord, now, if you're

          6  in suit, the affirmation says no grant.

          7                 When the first map was drawn for the

          8  October 23rd zone, we were included. Subsequent maps

          9  show us out of the zone.

         10                 By the time we reopened, we were

         11  operating during the summer months. We had employed

         12  37, and were serving 3,500 customers a week. Many

         13  returning to see us, as well as those interested in

         14  helping business in Lower Manhattan.

         15                 We have two five-year options, and we

         16  have, and we have opened spending $250,000 on the

         17  business. That should have been enough of a

         18  commitment to New York State.

         19                 The problem remains that the loss of

         20  all those businesses/people that were here before

         21  9/11 will make it very difficult to capitalize on

         22  the investment we made in Lower Manhattan.

         23                 We could not relocate this business,

         24  and it will thus be difficult to reap the awards

         25  that first attracted us to that location.
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          2                 If I were an owner, I would see

          3  rewards waiting. Sorry. The WTC site development

          4  will take years to positively impact us in a

          5  positive way.

          6                 There may additionally be negative

          7  impact years to come as they're doing the

          8  rebuilding.

          9                 I would also like to bring to your

         10  attention that the fact that the WTC Recovery Grant

         11  Program does not fairly compensate small businesses

         12  in and around ground zero. Under the most recent

         13  revisions to the program, Wall Street businesses

         14  that were closed for four days received ten days'

         15  worth of business income, or 250 percent of the time

         16  they were closed.

         17                 In contrast, small businesses, like

         18  Steamers, that were closer to the W 2 World Trade

         19  Center and closed for a longer period, in our case

         20  210 days, only received 25 days worth of business

         21  income or 12 percent of the time that we were

         22  closed. This is unfair and does not adequately

         23  compensate the small businesses that were hurt the

         24  most, those closest to Ground Zero. The problem must

         25  be fixed.
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          2                 In summary, some businesses received

          3  -- what I just said. I won't repeat that.

          4                 The change changed the collateral

          5  requirements for SBA loans, to replace using one's

          6  home or co-op as collateral, do away with the lease

          7  requirements that have an alternate method to

          8  neutralize unfriendly landlords when requesting the

          9  grants. Allow those who may be in the periphery of a

         10  zone the right to appeal and let them know that they

         11  are able to do that if so be it.

         12                 Those who lost incomes, earnings and

         13  savings for an extended period of time, should be

         14  treated separately. Businesses that were used by

         15  federal, City state, or their assignees, should be

         16  compensated additionally.

         17                 Here ends my testimony. Thank you

         18  very much.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you, sir.

         20                 Sir.

         21                 DR. HOODY: Hello. My name is Dr.

         22  Steve Hoody, and I'm owner and CEO of New York Total

         23  Health Centers. I'm going to read testimony, what I

         24  have here.

         25                 I'm a Lower Manhattan resident, and I
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          2  live in SoHo. More important, I'm a doctor of

          3  chiropractic, who originally started my practice in

          4  1984.

          5                 Our current company, SRH Health Care

          6  Management, Inc., manages multi-disciplined doctors'

          7  practices in four locations.

          8                 My company's main office and

          9  headquarters is located at 122 Fulton Street, which

         10  is only one and a half blocks from the World Trade

         11  Center site.

         12                 This office housed our

         13  administrative, marketing, advertising and billing

         14  departments, and the medical officer there conducted

         15  40 percent of our medical billing services prior to

         16  9/11.

         17                 A total of 75 percent of our entire

         18  business was conducted from the Lower Manhattan

         19  Fulton Street location.

         20                 Today I have come before this

         21  Committee to express my fervent support for

         22  Resolution 243.

         23                 My company's story is indeed

         24  compelling, a compelling reason, why the United

         25  States Small Business Administration must develop
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          2  effective programs to provide appropriate relief and

          3  assistance to existing businesses that were in the

          4  Lower Manhattan area prior to 9/11, that are still

          5  operating in the area, although struggling to

          6  sustain in the shadows of the former World Trade

          7  Center site.

          8                 After 9/11, my Fulton Street office

          9  was locked down for 30 days. We had no access to the

         10  facility, and, therefore, no access to our main

         11  computers, telephones, billing materials and

         12  marketing materials.

         13                 Once we were granted limited

         14  employee-only access to our offices, the offices had

         15  to be professionally and toxically cleaned from

         16  asbestos and other contaminants.

         17                 We lost several employees due to

         18  environmental distress, some even had to be

         19  hospitalized. Many of our practice's patients

         20  perished in the attack, and many other patients

         21  sought offices outside the area.

         22                 Health insurance companies after 9/11

         23  put on hold a very large percentage of all payments

         24  on claim, which is our primary source of revenue.

         25                 Receivables did not start to come in
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          2  until March of 2002, causing a loss of receivables

          3  to collect in excess of $600,000 during the same

          4  period.

          5                 Consequently my wife and I have

          6  borrowed from all possible avenues to keep

          7  employees' jobs secure and the business afloat. We

          8  took out personal loans emptied all savings accounts

          9  and 401Ks, in order to pay necessary bills.

         10                 This has destroyed my family's credit

         11  profile and encumbered me from being able to secure

         12  financing from conventional sources.

         13                 Although my business lost more than

         14  $750,000 as a direct result of 9/11, the Business

         15  Recovery Grant Program found an eligible economic

         16  loss of $450,000.

         17                 My company, however, was given a much

         18  smaller amount, it amounted to about $60,000 in

         19  assistance.

         20                 These monies did not go very far in

         21  assisting us in paying our current bills, as well as

         22  payments on high interest loans we had been forced

         23  to take out, not to mention our ongoing need for

         24  working capital as we continually struggle to get

         25  all of our Manhattan-based offices back to the level
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          2  of business we were operating at prior to 9/11.

          3                 We were providing billable services

          4  at a rate of approximately $700,000 a month.

          5                 With much needed financial assistant,

          6  in amounts that meet our actual, or even determined

          7  eligible economic loss, I would be able to return a

          8  first class health facility in the downtown area.

          9                 I would be able to hire at least an

         10  additional 20 staff and professionals in the

         11  Downtown area, and I would be able to acquire and

         12  either purchase or rent an additional 20,000 square

         13  foot facility, which we were looking at at the time,

         14  all in the downtown area.

         15                 Our demographic studies since 9/11

         16  demonstrate an even more pressing need for this type

         17  of care and the needs of the office, in this type of

         18  medical services we provide.

         19                 We're not asking for a handout but

         20  appropriate assistance.

         21                 We've been willing to take out a

         22  loan, as long as it's a long-term loan that we can

         23  make sure we can pay back appropriately, just to

         24  give us a fair opportunity to grow our business

         25  operation and help revitalize downtown.
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          2                 My company struggles every day to get

          3  back, to get on its feet.

          4                 We have a pressing need for

          5  additional staff, however, there is no capital to

          6  hire or rehire personnel.

          7                 Our currently financial situation is

          8  that we're beginning to meet our overhead, and

          9  within three months we should be able to make

         10  payments again toward some of our debt.

         11                 This is due to large amounts of

         12  receivables that are starting to come in.

         13                 Business insurances cannot and will

         14  not protect companies such as mine from terrorist

         15  attacks, we pay taxes for that reason expecting that

         16  the government will help us in times of severe need.

         17                 In conclusion, I urge the members of

         18  this Committee and the entire City Council to join

         19  forces in support of resolution 243, in particular

         20  to help businesses like ours, I mean we know we can

         21  bring so much vitality, jobs, and income back to the

         22  Lower Manhattan area, but we're just trying to get

         23  over that hump to do it.

         24                 Thank you very much.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: I want to thank
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          2  the three of you for very, very compelling

          3  testimony, and I want to give the prime sponsor of

          4  this the first question.

          5                 Council Member Nelson.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Thank you.

          7                 First, I want to thank Chair Sanders

          8  and his Committee staff and all of the members of

          9  the Committee as well for feeling this was an

         10  important resolution, and an important overall

         11  positive economic impact would have to our City.

         12                 Again, I would have to preface this

         13  by saying after 9/11, and we know the City was semi

         14  spiraling down with somewhat economically, we would

         15  all be the first to admit that, because we're in the

         16  know with this, but this no way would have

         17  deteriorated anywhere's near to the degree that it

         18  has had it not been for an attack upon America.

         19                 And immediately after the attack,

         20  people are wrapping the flag, federal and City, left

         21  and right, and in some cases, not all, when it came

         22  to the point of putting money where your patriotism

         23  is, all of a sudden people became mute, financially

         24  speaking.

         25                 Hence, it was brought out that, I
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          2  think the statement was made here, it needs a public

          3  push. I think that was in Tony's, Mr. Golio's

          4  remarks.

          5                 MR. GOLIO: Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: This is all

          7  part of that, a public push to the feds and to the

          8  state.

          9                 I might bring this out, too, what you

         10  brought out, I may just enhance upon it, that the

         11  road to hell may be paved with good intentions

         12  sometimes, you let your restaurant become a

         13  temporary police precinct, and closed by civil

         14  authority, and you had some of your insurance, you

         15  had some insurance problems, thank you for that. You

         16  returned about $200,000 to people had booked

         17  weddings, bar mitzvahs, et cetera, you gave them

         18  back the money. You paid even your tips personnel

         19  and other people who needed that money coming, even

         20  though there was nothing coming in, all goodwill,

         21  all goodwill gestures, all the American way, all the

         22  right thing to do, all part of our Christian Judaic

         23  heritage. You did what was right and you're not

         24  getting help to any degree for all of this. Hence

         25  Reso 243 to push the feds primarily to go ahead with
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          2  helping all of you who need it so much.

          3                 I took major personal interest in

          4  this for a few reasons, not the least of which is a

          5  very famous restaurant many of you may have heard

          6  of, Lundy's, in Sheepshead Bay. I'm sure you ate

          7  there and you loved it. And this is an institution,

          8  so many of us, people have been there throughout the

          9  world, and certainly to Brooklyn and New York City

         10  it's a landmark, and I heard how you were being

         11  trounced upon, and other businesses as well, from

         12  Lower Manhattan in some cases, but surely that

         13  ripple effect throughout the City, we saw the need

         14  and we went further with it.

         15                 And your testimony, everybody who has

         16  testified here today, as a matter of fact, and

         17  figures, numbers, which would be a big help in

         18  putting this all together, is commendable, and we

         19  thank you so much for that, and I'm glad, again,

         20  thank you all for coming.

         21                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         22                 MR. GOLIO: Just if I could correct a

         23  small point what you said?

         24                 The Police Department of the City of

         25  New York didn't actually ask us if they could use
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          2  our facility.

          3                 What actually occurred is kind of

          4  funny, our staff locked down the facility on Tuesday

          5  night and were ordered out of the area, and on

          6  Wednesday our alarm company called and said they had

          7  a break-in at American Park, and that they had

          8  called the NYPD and the NYPD said they had nobody to

          9  respond.

         10                 On Thursday we got a call from the

         11  NYPD saying they didn't need to respond, they were

         12  the ones that broke in. And then they used the

         13  facility, and we were absolutely more than happy to

         14  have them.

         15                 In fact, what was interesting about

         16  the conversation when they said, and because we

         17  broke in, you have power, because we needed power

         18  for our operations, and of course, that was great,

         19  but then they never paid for the power. So, kind of

         20  an interesting series of events.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: They didn't

         22  claim squatters' rights.

         23                 MR. GOLIO: Well, it was interesting.

         24  Kind of the irony of the whole thing is that they

         25  couldn't respond because they broke in and they
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          2  broke in and got us power, and now we were going to

          3  be billed for the power they used.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Soon to be at

          5  a movie near you.

          6                 One more thing, too, the Parks

          7  Department. Perhaps you should get some information

          8  to us and to our Chairman of Parks and Recreation

          9  and the Council's hope, maybe we can try to work out

         10  something with this.

         11                 MR. GOLIO: Thank you.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: At least I

         13  would offer that, hopefully we can.

         14                 Thank you. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Well put,

         16  Council Member.

         17                 Council Member Dilan.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Thank you, Mr.

         19  Chairman.

         20                 First I want to just give credit to

         21  the three of you gentlemen, because I think the one

         22  thing that we found consistent in your testimony was

         23  that neither one of you were looking for a handout.

         24  You were just looking for an environment to continue

         25  to do business and for every level of government to
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          2  follow through on what was said 16 months ago. So, I

          3  want to credit you for that.

          4                 But my question is specifically also

          5  for Mr. Golio, and I know Mr. Nelson just touched on

          6  some of it.

          7                 How long did the NYPD occupy the

          8  space? What was the amount of time for this?

          9                 MR. GOLIO: They were there for

         10  approximately nine weeks.

         11                 You know, the whole Battery Park

         12  area, Battery Park itself, was turned in basically

         13  to a military complex. So, even after the Police

         14  Department left, you still had police barricades up

         15  around the park through almost the middle of

         16  December.

         17                 It was actually, one of the problems

         18  in Battery Park that I understand we've been dealing

         19  with for years is the homeless problem. And it's

         20  always been a problem for us operating that

         21  restaurant to shoo them away, and when the police

         22  arrived and all the food arrived, so did more

         23  homeless. And the police decided that they wanted to

         24  help them out by feeding them, which was a nice

         25  thing to do, and then they decided they had to put
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          2  the homeless to work. So, when I would actually go

          3  to my restaurant to try and visit it during the

          4  period we were closed, I had to get past the

          5  homeless guards that were now installed around our

          6  restaurant by the Police Department.

          7                 It was really a very strange set of

          8  circumstances.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: The least

         10  needed protection.

         11                 So, you said you were closed for nine

         12  weeks?

         13                 MR. GOLIO: Well, the police were in

         14  the facility for nine weeks.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: The police were

         16  in the facility for nine weeks, and for that period

         17  of time, you received no compensation for the

         18  utility.

         19                 MR. GOLIO: We received no

         20  compensation of any kind.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Of any kind.

         22                 And I'm sure for those nine weeks,

         23  the normal amount of your utilities probably was

         24  higher or lower than what they normally --

         25                 MR. GOLIO: It was lower actually. You

                                                            64

          1  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND SMALL BUSINESS

          2  know, once we got in we shut down a lot -- you know,

          3  the food was destroyed, so we threw away the food

          4  and shut down a lot of our refrigeration facilities,

          5  you know and tried to manage our end of the cost

          6  because we knew we had no revenue coming in.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Okay, and now

          8  on the Parks Department, according to your

          9  testimony, you were current for this year with your

         10  licensing, and have made significant payments

         11  towards the amounts that you owe.

         12                 I guess by percentage, what

         13  percentage do you estimate that you owe the Parks

         14  Department?

         15                 MR. GOLIO: Well, I think the last

         16  invoice that we got from the Parks Department, with

         17  the inclusion of their interest rate at one and a

         18  half percent I believe a month, we owe the Parks

         19  Department about $112,000 against last year's rent.

         20                 The way our license agreement works

         21  with the City, we're required to pay a minimum

         22  monthly rent every month.

         23                 Our license year ends on October

         24  30th. And on December 30th we're required to make a

         25  make-up payment between the minimum rent and the
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          2  percentage rent that's called for in our license

          3  agreement, you know, for contract year 2001, our

          4  catch-up payment was about $220,000. So, you take

          5  out the interest that they've accrued, we paid about

          6  55, 60 percent of what we owed them.

          7                 And in fairness to Parks, I don't

          8  think it's Parks, I think it's the Comptroller's

          9  Office that's pushing a little bit harder here for

         10  revenues.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Definitely a

         12  strain for revenues to come in.

         13                 MR. GOLIO: Right. And we tried to do

         14  all that we could to help that along. But, you know,

         15  we're still 16 months later working with the FDA

         16  trying to complete a small business disaster loan.

         17                 I was in Washington yesterday and I

         18  had a very positive meeting with Herb Mitchell, who

         19  is the head of the disaster program, and it was a

         20  good meeting, but it's still 16 months later and we

         21  still haven't come to closure.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Just on the

         23  Parks Department issues and the Police Department

         24  issues, I would like to offer my support, I guess at

         25  the appropriate time if you would reach out to my
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          2  district office, I'd be more than glad to help you

          3  with that.

          4                 And I am a member of the Parks

          5  Committee, so I will reach out to the Commission in

          6  your regard.

          7                 And then my last question, Mr.

          8  Chairman, was in regard to some of the SBA

          9  legislation that you mentioned in regard to the size

         10  standards.

         11                 You mentioned two bills, the

         12  companion bills in the House and the Senate, I guess

         13  which member of each body is the sponsor of these

         14  bills, and then on top of that, without seeing the

         15  legislation myself, do you think these two bills

         16  would significantly change the structure of how SBA

         17  administers size standards to make meaningful impact

         18  on businesses? I would assume that businesses in

         19  large cities would be more proportionately affected,

         20  like in cities like New York, Los Angeles, and

         21  Chicago. Without reviewing the legislation, in your

         22  opinion, if you have viewed it, do you think it does

         23  what should be done?

         24                 MR. GOLIO: I think, you know, as I

         25  understand it, that legislation has not expired, and
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          2  the legislation now has to reintroduced.

          3                 Originally I know that Congressman

          4  Weiner from Brooklyn was one of the sponsors of the

          5  House Legislation, and I believe it was Senator

          6  Kary, although it was co-sponsored by Senator

          7  Schumer and Senator Clinton, on the Senate side

          8  which supported the legislation.

          9                 What it did was it kind of built in

         10  some of the flexibility I think that was asked for.

         11                 You know, the government's standard,

         12  and I can only speak for the restaurant industry

         13  because that's the one that I know best, is that for

         14  all affiliated entities, if you generated more than

         15  $6 million a year in gross revenues, you were

         16  considered other than a small business, period.

         17                 So, if you owned two restaurants in

         18  New York City of any size, you're out of luck.

         19                 So, it's almost like kind of the big

         20  or the small business that you were, the worst shape

         21  you were in because then you could get no help. And

         22  if you owned one restaurant and you did, you know,

         23  5.9 million in your preceding fiscal year, then you

         24  qualify. If you did $6.1 million, you got nothing.

         25  And that was, again, that's legislative, that's not
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          2  the SBA, they're just carrying out their

          3  instructions.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: I understand.

          5                 MR. GOLIO: As I understood the last

          6  bill, they had raised the size standard across the

          7  board for most entities at $8 million, to $8

          8  million, which would put us in a little bit of

          9  trouble, but they changed two things: They changed

         10  the date at which the companies were being evaluated

         11  to current, so they would look at what the revenues

         12  of the company were based upon a current time frame,

         13  not pre-disaster, in order to determine eligibility,

         14  and they also gave a tremendous amount of latitude

         15  to the administrator on a case-by-case basis review

         16  the circumstances.

         17                 There are a number of multi-unit

         18  restaurant operators in this City who have three or

         19  four facilities, it doesn't make them big businesses

         20  by New York standards, or by New York standards.

         21                 So, they would then be allowed to go

         22  to an appeal to an administrator, and maybe their

         23  business was $12 million in revenues, and they might

         24  be able to qualify, if they could show damage

         25  related directly to the Trade Center disaster.
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          2                 I mean, there are a lot of elements

          3  of those bills that I think would have been very

          4  helpful.

          5                 And I know Congresswoman Velazquez

          6  was also very involved in crafting that legislation

          7  and as the ranking Democrat on the Small Business

          8  Committee, she's got a good handle on SBA protocol.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Thank you.

         10                 I just would like to say to you

         11  gentlemen that your testimony was most enlightening

         12  I think. As elected officials we all know that there

         13  is pressure on small businesses throughout the City,

         14  but you don't quite understand how much pressure

         15  until you actually hear from business owners

         16  themselves, and the people that have to do it every

         17  day. I appreciate your time and testimony.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you, sir.

         19                 Let me alert everyone that the SBA

         20  has said that we're taking names of any companies

         21  that need a special help and I would encourage you

         22  all to put your name on this list, not to say that

         23  the SBA would treat this any different that they

         24  would treat any other list that's out there, but

         25  there's no harm in being on this particular list.
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          2                 I will deal with a quick question

          3  from Council Member Clarke before we hear from

          4  Council Member Recchia.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you, Mr.

          6  Chair.

          7                 Good afternoon, gentlemen. What I'm

          8  finding is that in a number of the hearings that

          9  we've been holding with respect to small business

         10  assistance post-9/11, those businesses that have

         11  been directly affected, is that there is this common

         12  theme and every time that a new vehicle is created

         13  by government, they just seem to miss it.

         14                 You know, I understand that they're

         15  trying to probably prevent or create safeguards

         16  against any abuse of these funds, but I mean there's

         17  this consistent missing of the mark that I think has

         18  to be addressed really, really quickly.

         19                 To be 16 months out now and not have

         20  crafted the appropriate loan fund, each entity from

         21  EDC to the Empire State Development Corporation, has

         22  tried to come out with a new vehicle and we still

         23  can't get down the road to recovery.

         24                 You know, I want to thank you

         25  gentlemen first of all. I know it's a strain and

                                                            71

          1  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND SMALL BUSINESS

          2  it's a stress, particularly when you're talking

          3  about a family business and, you know, you're

          4  mortgaging, you're doing everything you can. You

          5  know, they're being put in the position,

          6  essentially, where they're just trying to make ends

          7  meet and they're essentially mortgaging their

          8  futures to try to stay open today, because a lot of

          9  what they're requesting is not a handout

         10  essentially. It is a deferred payment situation, and

         11  we don't know when our economy is going to recover.

         12  But what I think we really need to do is really

         13  apply some pressure and get the right folks in the

         14  room, Mr. Chair, that can do a thorough analysis, to

         15  give them what we have is the practical application

         16  of these programs and, you know, admit to the fact

         17  that they're not doing their job.

         18                 There's no excuse at this point in

         19  time when we understand what the practical

         20  application of these programs are and how we're

         21  missing the mark that they can't be fine-tuned in a

         22  timely manner, so that these businesses can do what

         23  is needed to be done, to save their viability.

         24                 So, my recommendation is that we have

         25  on the record now, and probably on many transcripts,
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          2  over time built a case history of how these loan

          3  programs have really missed the mark, and to

          4  continue to take testimony, the next time these

          5  gentlemen come I'm afraid to hear what, you know,

          6  the recent news is where they're concerned, and what

          7  the ramifications are, not always with their

          8  businesses, but to be quite honest, there's a little

          9  selfishness in me, the fact that our economy relies

         10  on you.

         11                 So, it's, you know, a downward

         12  spiraling situation that we cannot get these tools

         13  and these vehicles to be applied in the way in which

         14  they can actually help us in the recovery that we

         15  need to bring these businesses back on line, and get

         16  things moving.

         17                 So, that is really what I wanted to

         18  say, because again, Domenic, I know you've been a

         19  champion and this is not the first time we're

         20  hearing this information and it's becoming even more

         21  critical each time.

         22                 I think we need to get the head of

         23  these entities into a room and really get them to

         24  face the fact that they need to fine-tune these

         25  programs.
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          2                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you.

          4                 Council Member Recchia.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Yes. I just want

          6  to say a few words. Excuse me, because there's an

          7  Education hearing and I'm on the Education Committee

          8  also and have to get downstairs, I just wanted to

          9  say a few words first.

         10                 I want to thank everyone for coming

         11  to testify here today. Mr. Golio, at Lundy's, I'm in

         12  your neighborhood district, right next to it. I've

         13  eaten there, and Steamers Landing, I used to eat

         14  their for lunch. My law firm, my office used to be

         15  at 30 Vesey Street, across the street from the World

         16  Trade Center. So, on 9/11 I was out campaigning and

         17  I came back to a disaster, and my law firm, now

         18  we're relocated to Brooklyn.

         19                 But many people like myself, they

         20  went to other places and this is not right. But what

         21  bothers me is when I hear restaurants that have more

         22  than one business, why should they reopen in Lower

         23  Manhattan, I say to myself. We're not going to help

         24  them. We do not encourage the SBA, the federal

         25  government is not encouraging restaurants to reopen,
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          2  because you're saying if you're going to combine all

          3  of our total revenue to see if we qualify for these

          4  loans, then why should we reopen? And that's just

          5  not fair.

          6                 And I hear what you're saying, I'm

          7  being in touch with the Congressman, and Congress

          8  members, we'll see what we can do, but we're here to

          9  help you. We are here to work together, and you do

         10  have a voice in the City Council, and thank you very

         11  much.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: I want to thank

         13  everyone who has come out here today for this. Your

         14  testimony, of course, is not only documented

         15  evidence that this need exists, but it was very

         16  compelling, and we intend to speak further with SBA,

         17  which has submitted information for the record here.

         18                 Of course, the Council Member Clarke

         19  whose position is always enlightening and if the

         20  City ever did just what she said maybe we would be

         21  in this problem, but until then we will muddle these

         22  things through.

         23                 So, I want to thank everyone on the

         24  Committee, especially Council Member Nelson who was

         25  the prime sponsor and really moved this here.
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          2                 Thank everyone for coming out today.

          3  Thank you very much.

          4                 This Council meeting is now

          5  adjourned.

          6                 (Hearing concluded at 2:30 p.m.)

          7

          8

          9

         10

         11

         12

         13

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25

                                                            76

          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 9th day of January 2003.
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